

stats sa

Department: Statistics South Africa REPUBLIC OF SOUTH AFRICA

Private Bag X44, Pretoria, 0001, South Africa, ISIbalo House, 1 Koch Street, Salvokop, Pretoria, 0002 www.statssa.gov.za, info@statssa.gov.za, Tel +27 12 310 8911

STATISTICAL RELEASE P0302

Mid-year population estimates

2024

Embargoed until: 30th July 2024 11:00

ENQUIRIES: User Information Services Tel: 012 310 8600/4892/8390 FORTHCOMING ISSUE: 2025

EXPECTED RELEASE DATE 31 July 2025

Dipalopalo tsa Aforikaborwa • Dipalopalo tsa Aforika Borwa • Ezazibalo zaseNingizimu Afrika • Tshitatistika Afrika Tshipembe • Tinhlayo Afrika-Dzonga

Statistieke Suid-Afrika • Dipalopalo tsa Aforika Borwa • Telubalo zaseNingizimu Afrika • EzeeNkcukacha maNani zoMzantsi Afrika • Iimibalobalo zeSewula Afrika



IMPROVING LIVES THROUGH DATA ECOSYSTEMS

Contents

Acro	nyms and abbreviationsiv							
Defin	Definition of conceptsv							
Sumr	naryvi							
1.	Introduction1							
2.	Demographic and other assumptions1							
2.1	Fertility2							
2.2	Mortality2							
2.3	International migration							
3.	Demographic and other indicators6							
3.1	HIV prevalence							
4.	National population estimates11							
5.	Provincial population estimates15							
5.1	Demographic assumptions15							
5.2	Migration patterns							
5.3	Provincial distributions							
Refer	ences							
Appe	Appendices							
Gene	ral Information							

List of tables

Table 1: Mid-year population estimates for South Africa by population group and sex, 2024	vii
Table 2: Assumptions of Total Fertility rate and expectation of life at birth, 2002–2024	4
Table 3: International net-migration assumptions for the period by population group, 2001–2026	5
Table 4: Births and deaths for the period 2002–2024	9
Table 5: Mid-year population estimates by population group and sex, 2024	11
Table 6: Mid-year population estimates by population group, age and sex, 2024	14
Table 7: Estimated provincial migration streams, 2011–2016	19
Table 8: Estimated provincial migration streams 2016–2021	19
Table 9: Estimated provincial migration streams 2021–2026	20
Table 10: Percentage distribution of the projected provincial share of the total population, 2002–2024	21
Table 11 (a): Provincial mid-year population estimates by age and sex, 2024	22
Table 11 (b): Provincial mid-year population estimates by age and sex, 2024 (concluded)	23

List of figures

Figure 1: Mid-year population estimates for South Africa by province, 2024	. vii
Figure 2: Crude birth rate, crude death rate, and rate of natural increase over time, 2002–2024	7
Figure 3: Life expectancy by sex over time, 2002–2024	8
Figure 4: IMR, U5MR and Total Life Expectancy over time, 2002–2024	8
Figure 5: HIV prevalence by selected age groups, 2002–2024	10
Figure 6: Persons living with HIV over time, 2002–2024	11
Figure 7: Population growth rates by selected age groups over time, 2002–2024	13
Figure 8: Provincial average total fertility rate over time, 2001–2026	16
Figure 9: Provincial average total fertility rate, 2021–2026	16
Figure 10: Provincial average life expectancy at birth (males), 2001–2026	17
Figure 11: Provincial average life expectancy at birth (females), 2001–2026	18
Figure 12: Percentage of children under-15 years of age	24
Figure 13: Percentage of elderly aged 60+	24
Figure 14: Percentage of youth aged 25–34 years	25

AIDS	Acquired Immuno Deficiency Syndrome
AIM	AIDS Impact Model
ANC	Antenatal Care
ART	Antiretroviral Therapy
CBR	Crude Birth Rate
CDR	Crude Death Rate
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease 2019
CSIR	Council for Scientific and Industrial Research
DATCOV	Daily Hospital Surveillance for COVID-19
DemProj	Demographic Projections
DHA	Department of Home Affairs
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IMR	Infant Mortality Rate
IOM	International Organisation for Migration
LE	Life Expectancy
MACOD	Mortality and Causes of Death
NDoH	National Department of Health
NICD	National Institute for Communicable Diseases of South Africa
NPR	National Population Register
NSO	National Statistical Organisation
OECD	The Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development
PMTCT	Prevention of Mother-to-Child Transmission
PLWHIV	People living with HIV
RAPID	Rapid Mortality Surveillance
RNI	Rate of Natural Increase
SABSSM	South African National HIV prevalence, incidence, behaviour and communication survey
SDDS	Special Data Dissemination Standards
Stats SA	Statistics South Africa
TFR	Total Fertility Rate
U5MR	Under-five Mortality Rate
UNDESA	United Nations Department of Economic and Social affairs

Definition of concepts

Age-specific fertility rate (ASFR) – The fertility rate obtained for specific age groups during a given year or reference period per 1,000 women.

Annual growth rate (GR) – The rate at which the population is increasing or decreasing in a given year due to natural increase and net migration, expressed as a percentage of the base population.

Cohort component projection – A projection made by subjecting all cohorts, on an annual or five-year basis, to mortality and migration assumptions, and applying fertility assumptions to women of reproductive age.

Crude birth rate (CBR) – The number of births in a year per 1,000 mid-year population of a specific year.

Crude death rate (CDR) – The number of deaths in a year per 1 000 mid-year population of a specific year.

Epidemic – A disease that affects a large number of people within a community, population or region.

Excess deaths – The number of deaths observed during the pandemic above a baseline of recent trends.

Incidence - The number of new cases during a specified time.

Life expectancy at birth (e (0)) – The average number of additional years a person could expect to live if the age-specific death rates for a given year prevailed for the rest of his/her life.

Life table – A tabular display of life expectancy and the probability of dying at each age (or age group) for a given population, according to the age-specific death rates prevailing at that time.

Pandemic – An epidemic that has spread over multiple countries or continents.

Population estimates – A calculation of the size or distribution of a population or another characteristic of the population for the present or past.

Population projection – Computations depicting the future course of a population's size, its structure, and its interaction with dynamics such as fertility, mortality, and migration. The projection is constructed based on assumptions about the future course of those population dynamics.

Prevalence – The total number of individuals in a population who have a disease or health condition at a specific period of time, usually expressed as a percentage of the population.

Rate of natural increase (RNI) – The rate at which the population is increasing or decreasing in a given year due to the surplus or deficit of births over deaths, expressed as a percentage of the base population.

Sex ratio – The number of males per 100 females in a population.

Total fertility rate (TFR) – The average number of children born alive to a woman during her lifetime if she were to bear children at each age in accordance with the prevailing age-specific fertility rates.

Under five-mortality rate (U5MR) – The number of deaths to children under the age of five per 1 000 live births.

v

Summary

- The cohort-component methodology is used to estimate the 2024 mid-year population of South Africa.
- The estimates cover all the residents of South Africa at the 2024 mid-year point and are based on the latest
 available information. Estimates may change as new data become available. Census 2022 data formed
 part of the array of data triangulated to determined plausible input of fertility, mortality and migration over
 time. The updated estimates are accompanied by an entire series of revised estimates for the period 2002–
 2024. On this basis, comparisons between this model and previous series should not be made.
- For 2024, Statistics South Africa (Stats SA) estimates the mid-year population at 63,02 million people. The female population accounts for 51,0% (approximately 32,13 million) of the population.
- On 5 March 2020, South Africa recorded its first case of COVID-19. By the 11th of March, the World Health Organization (WHO) declared COVID-19 a global pandemic. South Africa's first COVID-19 related death occurred on 27th March 2020. As the spread of the disease occurred over time, there was a rise in the number of direct and indirect deaths in the population due to COVID-19. In conjunction, there was a rise in innovation in COVID-19 related treatment protocols, prevention measures and vaccination development over this time. Despite resurgence of the COVID-19 virus over time, COVID-19 related deaths reduced drastically due to such innovation.
- Life expectancy at birth for 2024 is estimated at 63,6 years for males and 69,2 years for females.
- The infant mortality rate for 2024 is estimated at 22,9 per 1 000 live births.
- The estimated overall HIV prevalence rate is approximately 12,7% among the South African population. The total number of people living with HIV (PLWHIV) is estimated at approximately 8,0 million in 2024. For adults aged 15–49 years, an estimated 16,68% of the population is HIV positive.
- There is a reduction in international migration, which is indicative of the COVID-19 travel restrictions and subsequent impact on migratory patterns since March 2020. Migration is an important demographic process, as it shapes the age structure and distribution of the provincial population (and so the country's population structure). For the period 2021–2026, Gauteng and Western Cape are estimated to experience the largest inflow of migrants of approximately, 1 381 024 and 492 427 respectively.
- Gauteng still comprises the largest share of the South African population, with approximately 15,93 million people (25,3%) living in this province. KwaZulu-Natal is the province with the second largest population, with an estimated 12,31 million people (19,5%) living in this province. With a population of approximately 1,37 million people (2,2%), Northern Cape remains the province with the smallest share of the South African population.
- About 27,50% of the population is aged younger than 15 years (17,33 million) and approximately 9,7% (6,13 million) is 60 years or older. The provinces reflecting the highest percentage of children younger than 15 within its structure are Limpopo (33,09%) and EC (31,70%). The proportion of elderly persons aged 60 years and older in South Africa is increasing over time and as such policies and programmes to care for the needs of this growing population should be prioritised.

	Ma	le	Fen	nale	Total	
Population group	Number	% distribution of males	Number	% distribution of females	Number	% distribution of total
Black African	25 266 984	81,8	26 242 328	81,7	51 509 312	81,7
Coloured	2 600 412	8,4	2 738 174	8,5	5 338 586	8,5
Indian/Asian	829 316	2,7	799 478	2,5	1 628 794	2,6
White	2 189 488	7,1	2 349 724	7,3	4 539 212	7,2
Total	30 886 200	100,0	32 129 704	100,0	63 015 904	100,0

Table 1: Mid-year population estimates for South Africa by population group and sex, 2024

*Due to rounding totals may not add up to 100%

Figure 1: Mid-year population estimates for South Africa by province, 2024



Risenga Maluleke Statistician-General STATISTICS SOUTH AFRICA

1. Introduction

In a population projection, the size and composition of the future population is estimated. The mid-year population estimates produced by Statistics South Africa (Stats SA) use the cohort-component method for population estimation. In the cohort-component method, a base population is estimated that is consistent with known demographic characteristics of the country. The cohort base population is projected into the future according to the projected components of change. Selected levels of fertility, mortality and migration are used as input to the cohort-component method. For the 2024 mid-year estimates, the cohort-component method is utilised within the Spectrum Policy Modelling system. Spectrum is a Windows-based system of integrated policy models (version 6,36). The DemProj (Demographic Projection) module within Spectrum is used to develop the demographic projection, whilst the AIDS Impact Model (AIM) is used to incorporate the impact of HIV and AIDS on fertility and mortality, and ultimately the population estimates. Within the DemProj, a COVID-19 editor allows for the inclusion of COVID-19 related deaths by age and sex to be incorporated into the model. Spectrum requires annual estimates regarding births, deaths, and migration, among other indicators. The population estimates produced aim to take into account the impact of COVID-19 on births, deaths and migration.

1

Stats SA subscribes to the specifications of the Special Data Dissemination Standards (SDDS) of the International Monetary Fund (IMF). These standards dictate that the MYPE release should be disseminated within one month of the mid-year. The mid-year estimates are an estimate of the population as of 30 June in a given year. The estimates of stock such as population size, number infected with HIV etc. pertain to the middle of the year i.e. 30 June, whilst the estimates of flow e.g. births, deaths, Total Fertility Rates (TFRs), Infant Mortality Rates (IMRs) etc. are for a 12-month period e.g. 1st July 2023 to 30th June 2024. A stock variable is measured at a given time and represents a quantity at each moment in time – e.g. the number of people within the population at a certain moment whilst an estimate of flow is typically measured over a certain interval of time. The mid-year population estimates are published annually. It would be misleading to compare values and rankings with those of previously published reports, due to revisions and updates of the underlying data and adjustments. Users are advised to use the complete series, published along with this report on the Stats SA website.

2. Demographic and other assumptions

Mid-year population estimates and projections are tasked with determining the demographic profile of the country so as to better assist with planning as it relates to health, economics and welfare. A cohort-component projection requires a base population distributed by age and sex. Levels of mortality, fertility and migration are estimated for the base year and projected for future years. The cohort base population is projected into the future according to the projected components of population change.

2.1 Fertility

The DemProj module of Spectrum is used to produce a single-year projection, thus the Total Fertility Rate (TFR) and the life expectancy at birth must be provided in the same format i.e. annually. The time series of TFR estimates for all population groups in South Africa are derived following a detailed review of TFR estimates (1985–2024), (both published and unpublished), from various authors, methods and data sources.

The impact of COVID-19 on conception and subsequently the expected births post-2020 increased despite the escalation in economic uncertainty. Health professionals and planners have been concerned with the impact of the lockdown measures due to COVID-19 on the rollout of sexual and reproductive health services such as access and uptake of contraceptive methods, prenatal care provided to mothers, rollout of ARTs and early treatment and diagnosis of diseases and illnesses (NDOH, 2023). Collateral impacts of this nature occurred due to the constraints on or overburdening of the health care system due to COVID-19, likely contributing to higher births. There has been a rise in adolescent pregnancies due in part to the hampering of sexual and reproductive health programmes and campaigns due to COVID-19. A multi-country study by the UNFPA, using civil registration data from selected countries, indicates that developing countries experienced a disruption in the provision of health services due to COVID-19, which lead to an increase in births. It was also found that COVID-19 played a role as a great disruptor to already poor levels of timeliness on registrations of births in developing countries (UNFPA, 2021).

Empirical data indicating the actual effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on fertility in South Africa is reflected in the recorded live birth occurrences and registrations of 2021 and beyond (9 months after the pandemic). For this reason, current assumptions of national and provincial fertility are based on trends seen in published births data currently available at national and provincial level in the vital registration system and the District Health Information System (DHIS) (Stats SA, 2015; Stats SA, 2023; NDoH, 2021). The latest recorded live births report was published by Stats SA in December 2023. The report acknowledges that births data suffers from a level of incompleteness. Based on this report, there was an increase in birth occurrences as of 31 July 2023 for the years 2020 and 2021 (the 2022 year is excluded as it would suffer the most incompleteness). The finalised TFR assumptions can be found in Table 2. The estimates of fertility show a fluctuation over the period 2002–2024. Since 2009, overall fertility has declined from an average of 2,74 children per woman to 2,41 children in 2024. A dip in fertility seen in 2016 is reflective of empirical birth registration data in the DHIS and the recorded live births data (Stats SA, 2023; NDOH, 2021). Other inputs required in DemProj include the age-specific fertility rate (ASFR) trend and sex ratios at birth. Census 2022 TFR and the resultant births were not used in the estimation process as the fertility data has not been released for use.

2.2 Mortality

The ultimate purpose of the mid-year population estimates, to assist with policy making and planning based on the population structure and profile. This cannot be addressed without taking into account the COVID-19 pandemic that has greatly affected the nation and the world for over three years (Bradshaw et al., 2023). At the start of the pandemic, the Medical Research Council (MRC) prepared weekly publications indicating excess deaths in South Africa encountered during the pandemic. These reports were based on weekly updated deaths captured in the National Population Register (NPR) of South Africa (Dorrington et al., 2021). The MRC estimated that the mortality impact of COVID-19 was three-fold of what was reported by NDoH (Dorrington et al., 2021; NDoH, 2020; Moultrie, 2021). Using all-cause deaths reported in the death registration system of South Africa (adjusting for non-permanent residents, late registration and incompleteness), the MRC developed estimates of excess deaths experienced during the COVID-19 pandemic (Dorrington et al., 2021). Excess deaths refer to the number of deaths observed during the pandemic above a baseline of recent trend (Dorrington et al., 2021; NDoH, 2020). These excess deaths are what resulted in the decline in life expectancy (LE) during the pandemic.

To estimate the population in the DemProj model in Spectrum, age and sex specific death rates are required. On 30 April 2024, the 2020 Mortality and causes of death (MACOD) report was published by Stats SA. The report only covers the start of the COVID-19 pandemic in the year 2020. As a result, the age, sex and geographic profile of deaths for all residents in South Africa for the period 2021-2023 are yet to be published by Statistics South Africa. The MYPE is updated annually and will be revised to incorporate new information including the Mortality and Causes of Death (MACOD) data beyond 2020. The household mortality data from Census 2022 has not been released for use and could therefore not be used as part of the estimation process. The excess deaths that have been published by South African Medical Research Council (SAMRC) have been adjusted for non-permanent residents, late registration and completion in their estimation. Internationally, measures of excess deaths indicated that the COVID-19 pandemic substantially increased mortality in 2020 and 2021 in many countries (Karlinsky and Kobak, 2021; Aburto et al., 2021). The age mortality profile of the disease indicated that older people and those with co-morbidities, specifically diabetes and hypertension, faced a higher risk of mortality (Biswas, et al., 2021, Booth et al., 2021; Sanyaolu et al., 2020; Pillay et al., 2020; Goldstein and Lee, 2020). However, broader categories of respiratory diseases, circulatory diseases and cancer also faced higher risk of mortality (Sanyaolu et al., 2020; Stokes et al., 2020, Biswas et al., 2020; Booth et al., 2021; Pillay et al., 2020).

Stats SA applies the country-specific UN Model Life table for South Africa in Spectrum. The age pattern of mortality is based on various sources, data and methods – these include death data from the Rapid Mortality Surveillance (RAPID) report, MACOD report, and the Demographic and Health Survey report – among others. Survival rates from the selected life tables were then used to project the population forward. AIM calculates the number of AIDS deaths and determines a new set of life expectancies that incorporate the impact of Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome (AIDS), (see Figure 3). Additionally, excess deaths at the time of COVID-19 pandemic have been incorporated into the estimation process.

3

		Life expectancy at birth				
Year	TFR	Male	Female			
2002	2,55	60,8	67,3			
2003	2,48	60,7	68,4			
2004	2,62	60,7	68,5			
2005	2,74	60,7	68,6			
2006	2,77	60,8	68,7			
2007	2,77	60,8	68,7			
2008	2,78	60,9	68,7			
2009	2,74	60,9	68,7			
2010	2,65	60,9	69,8			
2011	2,64	62,5	69,8			
2012	2,61	63,3	69,9			
2013	2,56	63,5	69,9			
2014	2,52	63,6	70,0			
2015	2,45	63,7	70,1			
2016	2,33	63,7	70,3			
2017	2,28	63,9	70,5			
2018	2,34	64,3	70,3			
2019	2,38	64,5	70,4			
2020	2,42	64,7	71,0			
2021	2,42	64,8	71,0			
2022	2,42	64,8	71,2			
2023	2,42	64,7	71,2			
2024	2,41	65,1	71,2			

 Table 2: Assumptions of Total Fertility rate and expectation of life at birth, 2002–2024

4

The Spectrum Policy Modelling System (Futures Group) consists of a number of components that result in the estimation of population size to assist in costing and planning of, and future healthcare services. For the purpose of the production of the MYPE, Stats SA uses two of the available components in this projection model, namely (a) **Demproj** for population projections and (b) **AIM** in which the consequences of the AIDS epidemic were projected. In the AIM projection, several programmatic and epidemiological data inputs specific to South Africa are required. These include programme coverage of adults and children on antiretroviral treatment (ART) and Prevention of mother-to-child-transmission (PMTCT) treatment (NDoH, 2023). In addition to eligibility for treatment as per national guidelines, the epidemiological inputs include antenatal clinic data (ANC). The assumptions regarding the HIV epidemic in South Africa are based primarily on the prevalence data collected annually from pregnant women attending public service antenatal clinics (ANC) since 1990 to the most recent estimates of 2022 (Woldesenbet, S.A, et al., 2021; NDoH, 2021; NDOH, 2023). However, antenatal surveillance data produce biased prevalence estimates for the general population because only a select group of people (i.e. only pregnant women attending antenatal public health services) are included in

the sample. The South African National HIV prevalence, incidence, behaviour and communication survey (SABSSM) data that produces national estimates for the country are used in the model to correct for this bias (Shisana et al., 2014; Simbayi et al., 2019). Other inputs in the AIM model include the following: Median time from HIV infection to death, and Ratio of new infections. Indicators of HIV prevalence, incidence and HIV population numbers over time show the impact of HIV on the population. HIV indicators shown in Figures 5 and 6 are based on the afore-mentioned assumptions.

2.3 International migration

To estimate the population, annual net migration over time is required. Estimating and further projecting international migration over time is not without difficulties. Whilst there is a reliable registration of births and deaths in the country that assists in the fertility and mortality estimation, international migration surveillance systems have failed to accurately account for the number of international migrants entering the borders either through land, boat or aeroplanes. Whilst a concerted effort has been made to secure South Africa's borders, irregular migration is a common problem contributing to migration data issues. By triangulating a number of data sources i.e. the census, population age and sex structure seen in other surveillance systems such as education, health and employment as well as censuses of other countries capturing South African migrants and tourists' patterns, migration assumptions can be informed. Using this array of sources as well as literature, the MYPE assumes a level of annual net migration over time.

Table 3 shows international migration by population group for selected periods. Given the impact of COVID-19 on international movement across the globe, estimates of international migration during the COVID-19 period were disrupted. Appendix 5 in this report details the levels of lockdowns that were implemented in the country and their effects on international travelling and border controls. Overall, the assumption is that international migration drastically reduced during the COVID-19 period and there has been a recovery since the end of the pandemic. According to the tourism and migration statistics from Stats SA, there has been an improvement with regards to international tourism in South Africa even though by December 2023 the numbers had not reached pre-COVID-19 levels (Stats SA, 2024(c)). In February 2024, travellers arriving in the country increased by 15,8% when comparing 2024 to 2023 (Stats SA, 2024(a)). The number of travellers who arrived in February 2024 is still a quarter of a million less than the 2020 number, buttressing the fact that pre-COVID-19 levels have not been reached. The May 2024 report on tourism shows that the number of foreign arrivals in the country was approximately 320 000 lower than the number reported in May 2019 (before the COVID-19 pandemic) (Stats SA, 2024(b)). For the purpose of this report tourism data is used as an indicator of mobility.

	African	Indian/Asian	White	Net international migration
2001–2006	619 509	35 562	-99 574	555 497
2006–2011	878 851	53 047	-106 787	825 111
2011–2016	1 100 815	65 431	-111 346	1 054 900
2016–2021	956 984	60 700	-90 957	926 727
2021-2026	792 857	49 989	-84 308	758 538

Table 3: International net-migration assumptions for the period by population group, 2001–2026

Note: The estimate refers the flow figure from 1st July of the first year in the period to 30th June of the last year of the period

If the net flow of migrants is outward, then net migration is reflected as a negative number whilst if the net flow is inward, then it is reflected as a positive number (Table 3). Net international migration estimates are derived using not only Census 2011 migration data, but also migration numbers and proportions from various other authors, methods and data sources such as the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) and UNDESA, which forms part of the UN network. These estimates are informed by the number of new immigration permits issued, which only partly represents migration flow (OECD, 2023). Furthermore, irregular migration constitutes a significant proportion of migration, often missed in official estimates, and this varies from country to country. Census data from National Statistics Offices (NSOs) of various countries as well as migration data is also sourced. Compared to other components of change, the net migration rate can be volatile, as encountered during the outbreak of COVID-19.

The MYPE 2024 series has assumed a resumption in migratory patterns, almost reaching pre-pandemic levels by 2024 with an upward trajectory going forward. As more migration data comes to the fore over time, migration assumptions will be revised accordingly.

3. Demographic and other indicators

Figure 2 indicates that the Crude Birth Rate (CBR) increased between 2003 and 2008, thereafter it follows a general pattern of decline between 2009 and 2017, after which the CBR remains stable at 20 births per 1000 persons. The CBR is directly related to the rise and fall of TFR assumptions over time (Table 2). Whilst CBR is a crude measure of the number of live births per 1000 persons in the population, indicators such as TFR and ASFR (Age Specific Fertility Rate) offer insight into fertility in the country over time. TFR assumptions indicate a rise in the period 2004-2008 and a consequent rise in birth in the period 2004-2009. However, in the period 2009-2017 though there is a general decline in TFR, there is a consequent rise in births due to population momentum and the increased proportion of women of reproductive aged 15-49 during this period. With a growth in TFR 2018-2020, a significant increase in the number of births, and with a constant TFR in the last four years we see a stable number of births. Figures 2-4 and Table 4 offer a glimpse into the mortality experience of South Africa, which incorporates the impact of HIV and AIDS (using the AIM model). The crude death rate (CDR) has increased from 13,3 (2002) to 14,4 deaths per 1000 in 2006, thereafter declining to 8,8 deaths per 1 000 people in 2020. Due to the AIDS epidemic experience, CDR in South Africa did increase between 2002 and 2006 thereafter declining as access to HIV treatment and care became available. Dramatically influenced by COVID-19 in the country, within just one year CDR increased to 11,1 deaths per 1 000 people in 2021. With access to COVID-19 treatment and vaccination uptake, CDR in the population declined to 8,7 deaths per 1000 persons in 2023 and remained at 8,7 deaths per 1000 persons in 2024 as further reduction in COVID-19 related deaths reached saturation levels. The rate of natural increase (RNI) fluctuates over time peaking around 2011-2014 while CBR shows a peak around 2008 with a gradual decline over time. RNI indicates the great influence of births relative to deaths over the 12-year period. However, with declining fertility and a dramatic increase (27,8%) in deaths in 2021 due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the rate of natural increase in South Africa dropped drastically from 1,2% in 2020 to 0,9% in 2021. With a stable birth rate and a declining death rate between 2022 and 2024, RNI climbed to 1,1% in 2024.



Figure 2: Crude birth rate, crude death rate, and rate of natural increase over time, 2002-2024

Life expectancy at birth declined between 2002 and 2006, largely due to the impact of the HIV and AIDS epidemic experienced, however expansion of health programmes to prevent mother-to-child transmission as well as access to antiretroviral treatment has partly led to the increase in life expectancy since 2006. Life expectancy at birth for males declined from 62,8 in 2020 to 60,3 in 2021 (2,5 year drop) and from 68,3 in 2020 to 65,0 for females (3,2 year drop). Whilst the Life expectancy at birth indicator is an important health indicator it should not be interpreted as a projection of an individual's lifespan but rather should be used to shed light on the cumulative burden of a crisis such as COVID-19 compared to recent trends. With greater vaccination coverage, continued prevention practices i.e. mask wearing; social distancing and sanitising of hands and surfaces; further innovation in drug and treatment protocols and the avoidance of a more severe or infectious strain of the virus, life expectancy at birth in South Africa improved by 0,8 years for males (63,6 years) and 0,9 years for females (69,2 years) in 2024. With access to HIV prevention and treatment as well as other strides in health and living conditions, the infant mortality rate (IMR) has declined from an estimated 57,0 infant deaths per 1 000 live births in 2002 to 22,9 infant deaths per 1 000 live births in 2024. Similarly, the under-five mortality rate (U5MR) declined from 79,7 child deaths per 1 000 live births to 28,6 child deaths per 1 000 live births between 2002 and 2024. The IMR and U5MR shown in Figure 4 are based on the selected model life table and may differ to similar indices published elsewhere. Infants admitted to hospitals for COVID-19 related illness experienced a case fatality rate of 6,6% whilst those aged one to four admitted, experienced a case fatality rate of 3,0%. (NICD, 2021). The children sparing pattern of COVID-19, has thus far made no impact on child mortality levels in the country (NICD, 2021; Kang & Jung, 2020).

7



Figure 3: Life expectancy by sex over time, 2002–2024





Table 4 indicates estimates for selected indicators. The highest number of death was estimated for the period 1st July 2005 to 30th June 2006, during the peak of the AIDS pandemic. The decline in the percentage of AIDS-related deaths since 2006 can be attributed to the increase in the roll-out of Antiretroviral Therapy (ART) over time. The national roll-out of ART began in 2005 with a target of one (1) service point in each of the 53 districts of South Africa at the time (later reduced to 52 districts). The estimated number of AIDS-related deaths has generally declined since 2007 from 281 302 to 68 406 AIDS related deaths in 2024. Access to antiretroviral treatment has changed significantly altering the pattern of mortality over time. Access to ART has extended the lifespan of many in South Africa, who would have otherwise died at an earlier age, as evidenced in the decline of AIDS deaths post-2006. Presence of the COVID-19 pandemic has hampered the ability of the health sector to extend life expectancy in South Africa in the year 2021. The proportion of AIDS related deaths relative to all deaths declined in 2021 (10,3%) as COVID-19 related deaths from 10,9% to 12,5% in 2024 as COVID-19 related deaths reduced to negligible levels. Estimated deaths in 2021 come close to levels last seen during the AIDS pandemic at its peak.

Year	Number of births	Number of deaths	Number of AIDS related deaths	Percentage of AIDS related deaths
2002	987 121	621 727	229 792	37,0
2003	975 304	639 556	253 658	39,7
2004	1 049 185	660 576	269 377	40,8
2005	1 113 332	683 422	284 249	41,6
2006	1 146 355	698 831	286 454	41,0
2007	1 170 206	690 859	281 302	40,7
2008	1 196 308	676 658	261 325	38,6
2009	1 197 835	644 046	220 943	34,3
2010	1 182 577	608 869	190 352	31,3
2011	1 194 399	572 658	165 011	28,8
2012	1 199 305	547 027	139 623	25,5
2013	1 195 484	529 404	117 851	22,3
2014	1 192 619	515 742	98 458	19,1
2015	1 177 128	513 781	91 126	17,7
2016	1 129 875	519 496	92 372	17,8
2017	1 119 165	523 259	89 286	17,1
2018	1 155 430	520 337	79 428	15,3
2019	1 184 110	522 734	73 221	14,0
2020	1 215 381	528 117	70 297	13,3
2021	1 223 452	675 121	69 212	10,3
2022	1 223 535	631 623	69 096	10,9
2023	1 222 387	540 620	68 382	12,6
2024	1 224 801	547 360	68 406	12,5

Table 4: Births and deaths for the period 2002–2024

Note: The flow data as shown above are for a 12-month period e.g. 1st July to 30th June

3.1 HIV prevalence

Figures 5 and 6 show the HIV prevalence estimated for the period 2002–2024. For 2024, an estimated 12,7% of the total population is HIV positive. A fifth of South African women in their reproductive ages (15-49 years) are HIV positive. Accessibility of treatment post 2006 and changing eligibility criteria to access treatment, have allowed for HIV positive children and adults to live to older ages thereby increasing prevalence. Congruently the protective effective of an HIV positive population on ART and changing protocols in Prevention of Mother-to-Child transmission (PMTCT) lowers levels of HIV incidence. This is evident in the marginal decline in HIV prevalence among adults 15-49 from 17,6% in 2014 to 16,7% in 2024. HIV prevalence among the youth aged 15-24 has remained stable over time, declining marginally in the most recent decade. The South African government has committed to achieving the UNAIDS 90-90-90 target. This entails that 90% of all people living with HIV will know their HIV status, 90% of all people with diagnosed HIV infection will receive sustained treatment, and 90% of all people receiving treatment will have viral load suppression. Having the largest number of people enrolled on ART programme in the world, the South African government was indeed concerned about the impact of COVID-19 among persons living with HIV (PLWHIV) as well as the impact on testing and treatment programmes. Available data suggests a decline in annual number of clients remaining on ART by approximately 4% (Ndlovu, N.& Padarath, A., 2024). The COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown measures have to some extent, interrupted HIV prevention and treatment programmes in South Africa as it did globally. However, the disruption did not result in significant rise in AIDS-related deaths as access was merely disrupted for short periods at a time. The total number of PLHIV in South Africa is estimated to have increased from 4,14 million in 2002 to 8,00 million by 2024. Overall HIV prevalence continually increased from 8,9% in 2002 to 12,7% in 2024.



Figure 5: HIV prevalence by selected age groups, 2002–2024



Figure 6: Persons living with HIV over time, 2002-2024

4. National population estimates

Table 5 shows the mid-year population estimates by population group and sex. The mid-year population is estimated at 63,02 million. The black African population is in the majority (51,51 million) and constitutes approximately 82% of the total South African population. The white population is estimated at 4,54 million, the coloured population at 5,34 million and the Indian/Asian population at 1,63 million. Fifty-one per cent (32,13 million) of the population is female.

	Ма	le	Fen	Total		
Population group	Number	% of total male population	Number	% of total female population	Number	% of total population
Black African	25 266 984	81,8	26 242 328	81,7	51 509 312	81,7
Coloured	2 600 412	8,4	2 738 174	8,5	5 338 586	8,5
Indian/Asian	829 316	2,7	799 478	2,5	1 628 794	2,6
White	2 189 488	7,1	2 349 724	7,3	4 539 212	7,2
Total	30 886 200	100,0	32 129 704	100,0	63 015 904	100,0

Table 5: Mid-year population estimates by population group and sex, 2024

* Due to rounding totals may not add up to 100%

Impact of the COVID-19 deaths is evident in the change in the population structure over the years 2020–2024 specifically in the elderly aged 60 and older. Figure 7 shows the rate of growth in various age categories. With the exception of the youth (those aged 15–24), all population age categories reflected a decline in the rate of growth between 2020 and 2021. Population growth rates between 2002 and 2024 reflect changes in fertility, mortality and migration that occurred over decades. Due to achievements in health and wellbeing, population growth rates prior to the COVID-19 pandemic for youth 15–24 and adults 60+ were on

the incline. The estimated annual population growth rate increased from 0,92% for the period 2002–2003 to 1,46% for the period 2019–2020. However, in the period, 2020–2021 the overall growth rate declined to 1,06%, which is directly related to the drastic increase in deaths and decline in migration.

The overall growth rate increased between 2021 and 2024 and is now estimated to be 1,33% in the period 2023–2024. The increase in population growth rate is due to a decline in deaths, revival of positive net migration since the COVID-19 pandemic and increase in births. The proportion of the elderly in South Africa was on the increase with the growth rate among elderly (60 years older) rising from 1,40% for the period 2002–2003 to 2,88% for the period 2019–2020. However, given the high mortality levels among the elderly during the COVID-19 pandemic, the growth rate among the elderly aged 60 and older drastically declined from 2,88% for the period 2019–2020 to 1,65% for the period 2020–2021. With a decline in deaths from the COVID-19 pandemic, deaths among the elderly reduced drastically resulting in elderly population growth for the period 2022–2023 being 2,92%. For the year 2024 we see a stability in elderly population growth as no further gains to the reduction in COVID-19 related deaths can be made. Therefore, the growth rate for this period is estimated at 2,84%.

Given the fluctuation in fertility over time, the increase in the growth rate among children aged 0–14 between 2002 and 2013 is indicative of the rise in fertility between 2004 and 2008, ageing of children into the next age category, as well as the decline in infant and child mortality post-2006 (Appendix 4). The declining rate of growth post 2018 among children aged 0–14, reflects the overall decline in fertility since 2008.

The age group 25–59 has seen a decline in population growth since 2013, however a drastic decline in the growth rate for the period 2020–2021 (due to COVID-19 deaths and lockdown measures limiting migration) was evident. Post 2022 there has been a stabilisation in the growth rate around 1,36% for 2022 to 2024. All three aspects of demography (past and present), i.e. fertility, international migration as well as deaths, significantly influenced the decline in the rate of growth for South Africa as a whole.



Figure 7: Population growth rates by selected age groups over time, 2002–2024

Table 6 shows the 2024 mid-year population estimates by age, sex and population group. About 27,5% of the population is aged 0–14 years and approximately 9,7% is 60 years and older. SA suffered 2 pandemics in the period 2002-2024. The loss of life due to AIDS pandemic was a gradual one extending over decades. COVID-19 however, resulted in drastic loss of life over months. COVID-19 also resulted in decline in net international migration and as such we see a dip on the annual growth rate in the period 2020/2021. The decline in growth was experienced more drastically among the elderly, however due to the availability of COVID-19 vaccines and other health interventions protecting the elderly and the population at large the growth rate among elderly and total population increased between 2021 and 2023. By 2024, growth within the elderly reached saturation point. The increase in the rate of growth among those aged 25–59 in SA, can be attributed to health interventions including HIV programs that enabled population growth post 2005 via improved survival across all ages particularly infants.

Growth rates for broad selected ages are a function of fertility, mortality and or migration over time. The growth rate among children was impacted greatly by HIV infant deaths resulting in negative growth among children between 2002-2006. With the introduction of PMTCT and ART programs there was a reverse in the growth rate among children from negative to positive. The decline in the growth of children post 2013 can be attributed to declining fertility over time. Growth within the youth aged 15-24 is tied to past fertility trends as well as mortality over time. The decline in growth rate in the period 2002-2013 among youth can be attributed to the culmination of increased deaths due to AIDS and declining births post 2008. The plateau in the rate of growth for the period 2013-2019 can be explained by the decline in AIDS related deaths (due to access to HIV treatment) coupled with the continued decline in births and high infant deaths between 1999 and 2003. There was a rise in the rate of growth among youth aged 15-24 in the period 2019-2024 rise, which is tied to increased fertility 2004-2009 and survival of infants due to access to PMTCT and ART over time.

 Table 6: Mid-year population estimates by population group, age and sex, 2024

	Black African			Coloured			Indian/Asian		White		RSA				
	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total
0–4	2 681 519	2 605 478	5 286 997	218 019	211 198	429 217	38 887	37 557	76 444	85 461	83 014	168 475	3 023 886	2 937 247	5 961 133
5–9	2 473 275	2 403 561	4 876 836	214 559	208 317	422 876	45 404	43 647	89 051	108 898	105 846	214 744	2 842 136	2 761 371	5 603 507
10–14	2 505 985	2 459 386	4 965 371	225 537	219 613	445 150	51 673	49 410	101 083	127 185	123 930	251 115	2 910 380	2 852 339	5 762 719
15_19	2 352 394	2 334 371	4 686 765	225 994	221 082	447 076	49 060	46 482	95 542	129 765	127 296	257 061	2 757 213	2 729 231	5 486 444
20-24	1 995 803	1 983 911	3 979 714	205 596	201 720	407 316	51 534	45 200	96 833	116 / 69	116 300	232 769	2 369 402	2 347 230	4 716 632
25 20	2 120 169	2 122 145	1 262 313	212 920	210 452	407 510	67 416	54 720	122 1/6	101 196	122.246	243 432	2 532 600	2 510 573	5 052 182
20-29	2 130 100	2 132 143	4 752 624	213 039	210 452	424 291	07 410	00.050	147 505	121 100	122 240	243 432	2 332 003	2 319 373	5 500 200
30-34	2 371 892	2 381 739	4 753 631	217 948	215 150	433 098	81 542	66 053	147 595	131777	132 165	203 942	2 803 159	2 795 107	5 598 200
35-39	2 338 514	2 333 719	4 672 233	208 983	207 753	416 736	85 200	70 846	156 046	149 384	149 461	298 845	2 782 081	2 761 779	5 543 860
40–44	1 827 257	1 831 870	3 659 127	178 389	185 027	363 416	81 367	69 519	150 886	150 130	152 244	302 374	2 237 143	2 238 660	4 475 803
45–49	1 340 068	1 377 381	2 717 449	151 952	155 552	307 504	67 314	59 957	127 271	151 100	159 629	310 729	1 710 434	1 752 519	3 462 953
50–54	1 013 412	1 084 993	2 098 405	144 938	157 847	302 785	57 808	54 722	112 530	170 956	179 261	350 217	1 387 114	1 476 823	2 863 937
55–59	732 195	918 211	1 650 406	128 573	155 039	283 612	47 208	49 436	96 644	156 445	168 527	324 972	1 064 421	1 291 213	2 355 634
60–64	578 411	799 297	1 377 708	106 855	130 614	237 469	37 414	43 744	81 158	143 801	160 572	304 373	866 481	1 134 227	2 000 708
65–69	418 819	631 317	1 050 136	73 506	101 021	174 527	27 842	36 225	64 067	133 995	152 529	286 524	654 162	921 092	1 575 254
70–74	277 805	456 220	734 025	46 217	72 715	118 932	19 737	29 335	49 072	115 822	139 420	255 242	459 581	697 690	1 157 271
75-79	144 864	289 615	434 479	23 870	44 846	68 716	11 678	21 113	32 791	93 264	116 287	209 551	273 676	471 861	745 537
	04.000	040.444	000 747	45.007	10.000	55 005	0.000	04 400	00.005	400.050	400.007	004.047	210 010	444 740	054.004
80+	84 603	219 114	303 717	15 637	40 228	55 865	8 232	21 403	29 635	103 850	160 997	264 847	212 322	441 742	654 064
Total	25 266 984	26 242 328	51 509 312	2 600 412	2 738 174	5 338 586	829 316	799 478	1 628 794	2 189 488	2 349 724	4 539 212	30 886 200	32 129 704	63 015 904

5. Provincial population estimates

Provincial estimates are derived using a cohort-component method as suggested by the United Nations (United Nations, 1992), incorporating changes in births, deaths as well as migration over time. The provincial population estimates are developed using a five-year cohort- component method. The indicators of fertility, mortality and migration are derived for an average five-year period i.e. 2021–2026.

When provincial population estimates are desired and the appropriate data are available, a multi-regional approach should be considered as this is the only way to guarantee that the total migration flows between regions will sum to zero (United Nations, 1992). Multi-regional methods require the estimation of separate age-specific migration rates between every region of the country and every other region, and such detailed data are rarely available. Although it is possible to estimate some of the missing data (see Willekens et al., 1978), the task of preparing data can become overwhelming if there are many regions. If there are only a few streams, however, the multi-regional method is the best method to use. In South Africa 2 448 (9x8x17x2) migration streams are derived if the multi-regional model is applied in calculating migration streams by age group (17 in total) and sex for each of the nine provinces.

The population structure as per Census 2001, 2011 and 2022, as well as the distribution of births and deaths from vital registrations (adjusted for late registration and completeness) are examined to determine provincial estimates. The distribution of births and deaths at provincial level is guided by the use of administrative data from the Department of Home Affairs i.e. birth and death registration system. Additional estimates of TFR, ASFR and ASDR at provincial level from other sources including censuses, health surveys, and hospital data are considered regarding births and deaths at provincial level. Excess deaths due to COVID-19 for the period 2020–2024 have been incorporated into the model at provincial level. As with the national estimates, fertility and mortality data from Census 2022 was not released and was therefore not used in the provincial estimation process.

5.1 Demographic assumptions

Figure 8 shows the provincial fertility estimates for the periods 2001–2006; 2006–2011; 2011–2016, 2016–2021 and 2021–2026. In the period 2006–2011, there is a general rise in TFR, giving shape to the Census 2011 provincial population structure. In the subsequent period (2011–2021) there is an overall decline in TFR. In the period 2021-2026 there is a plateauing in the TFR for many provinces. Fertility rates vary from province to province as is depicted in Figure 8. The more rural provinces of Limpopo and Eastern Cape indicate higher total fertility rates whilst more urbanised provinces such as Gauteng and the Western Cape indicate lower rates of fertility. This results in birth outcomes that differ across provinces over time. Current assumptions of provincial fertility are based on trends seen in published births data currently available at provincial level.



Figure 8: Provincial average total fertility rate over time, 2001–2026





Life expectancy at birth reflects the overall mortality level of a population. Figures 10 and 11 show the average provincial life expectancies at birth for males and females for the five-year periods 2001–2006; 2006–2011; 2011–2016, 2016–2021 and 2021–2026. As indicated previously, the distribution of death by province is guided by deaths registration system published by Stats SA as well as other admin and survey sources. The impact of COVID-19 deaths has been incorporated into the provincial estimation and slowed down the improvement in life expectancy (LE) over the five-year period 2016–2021.

According to Figures 10 and 11, life expectancy at birth increased incrementally for each period across all provinces but more significantly in the period 2011–2016 due to the uptake of antiretroviral therapy over time in South Africa. Though life expectancy in the periods 2001–2006 and 2006–2011, depicts marginal improvement, this masks the interaction between the highest number of deaths in 2006 in combination with declining numbers of deaths between 2007 and 2010. In the period 2021–2026 there is an average six-year gap between male and female life expectancy in SA. The marginal improvement in LE across all provinces for the period 2016–2021 is indicative of the dramatic increase in deaths occurring between the 1st July 2020 and 30th June 2021. With a decline in COVID-19 deaths, there is further improvement in LE at birth. For all provinces males have higher life expectancy at birth than their female counterparts. Western Cape consistently has the highest life expectancy at birth for both males and females over time (followed by Gauteng) whilst the Free State has the lowest life expectancy at birth.

Life expectancy at birth	80,0 70,0 60,0 50,0 40,0 30,0 20,0 10,0									
	0,0	EC	FS	GP	KZN	LP	MP	NC	NW	WC
■ 2	001-2006	51,5	43,3	55,1	45,6	52,9	50,9	50,1	46,1	58,3
2	006-2011	53,5	45,5	56,7	48,1	54,5	53,0	51,1	48,5	60,7
2	011-2016	59,3	53,9	62,2	56,2	59,9	59,3	56,8	56,2	64,4
2	016-2021	60,5	55,5	63,8	57,4	61,4	61,4	58,2	57,6	66,2
2	021-2026	61,4	57,0	65,1	59,1	63,2	62,8	59,5	59,6	67,4

Figure	10: Provincial	average life ex	pectancy at bir	h (males)	. 2001-2026
					,



Figure 11: Provincial average life expectancy at birth (females), 2001–2026

5.2 Migration patterns

From census data it should be possible to determine out-migration rates for each province. Census 2011 migration rates have been used adjusted for changing trends noted in Census 2022. Applying these rates to the age structures of the provinces over time, it is possible to establish migration streams between the provinces for the various periods i.e. 2001–2006, 2006–2011, 2011–2016, 2016–2021 and 2021–2026 and these are shown in Tables 7, 8 and 9. Assumptions on international migration to province in the 2016–2021 and 2021-2026 periods reflect the impact of COVID-19 on travel restrictions and movements and the slow recovery towards pre-COVID-19 levels of migration. Provincial estimates are developed based on a five-year cohort- component method; and as such interprovincial movement assumptions are required for a five-year period (2021–2026). The level of internal migration emanating from Census 2022 is considered to be low. As such, migration estimates are guided by provincial age and sex structure from censuses and admin data i.e. education, health, voting registration (Stats SA; 2023; IEC; 2024; NDOH; 2024). The assumptions indicate that Gauteng and Western Cape received the highest number of in-migrants for all periods. Eastern Cape, Limpopo and Gauteng experienced the largest number of outflow of migrants for all periods. For all periods, the number of international migrants entering the provinces was highest in Gauteng, with Western Cape ranking second.

Province in				Pr	ovince in 2016	6				Out	in-	Not
2011	EC	FS	GP	KZN	LP	MP	NC	NW	wc	out- migrants	n- migrants	migration
EC	0	13 988	136 378	103 953	14 749	17 455	8 556	30 727	167 843	493 649	187 835	-305 814
FS	8 402	0	74 326	7 841	6 628	10 736	9 099	23 797	12 156	152 984	140 494	-12 491
GP	45 547	40 268	0	91 030	91 873	82 485	11 117	80 313	99 563	542 196	1 532 864	990 668
KZN	26 048	13 095	211 029	0	9 335	37 250	8 628	12 006	34 400	351 791	330 464	-21 327
LP	4 545	5 904	316 787	8 323	0	47 562	2 597	32 426	11 365	429 509	290 823	-138 686
MP	5 053	5 225	136 206	12 654	23 479	0	2 324	13 431	9 807	208 179	296 042	87 863
NC	4 424	9 086	17 215	5 807	2 679	4 595	0	12 994	18 199	74 998	83 972	8 973
NW	4 767	10 822	97 356	5 613	18 308	10 935	21 655	0	8 372	177 829	293 976	116 147
WC	47 943	7 566	58 462	12 233	5 414	6 814	11 948	7 856	0	158 238	487 806	329 567
Outside SA (net migration)	41 107	34 539	485 104	83 010	118 357	78 210	8 046	80 425	126 101			

 Table 7: Estimated provincial migration streams, 2011–2016

Table 8: Estimated provincial migration streams 2016–2021

Province in					01		Not					
2016	EC	FS	GP	KZN	LP	MP	NC	NW	wc	Out- migrants	in- migrants	Net migration
EC	0	14 286	139 395	106 258	15 065	17 825	8 727	20 861	172 097	494 515	197 285	-297 230
FS	8 695	0	77 030	9 295	6 859	11 122	9 429	21 024	13 086	156 539	145 902	-10 637
GP	52 757	44 887	0	103 395	84 864	85 004	11 653	99 989	104 834	587 383	1 452 721	865 338
KZN	27 674	13 928	185 425	0	9 930	39 655	9 171	12 783	36 598	335 165	338 160	2 994
LP	4 839	6 283	314 938	8 869	0	50 634	2 769	34 509	12 565	435 406	273 565	-161 841
MP	5 497	5 679	127 137	13 749	25 514	0	2 532	14 609	10 657	205 374	295 898	90 523
NC	4 703	9 690	18 360	6 173	2 856	4 889	0	13 834	19 409	79 914	88 004	8 090
NW	5 200	13 062	93 962	5 486	20 637	11 918	23 647	0	9 134	183 047	295 574	112 528
WC	52 562	8 342	64 546	13 526	5 979	7 534	13 177	8 696	0	174 363	491 324	316 962
Outside SA (net migration)	35 358	29 745	431 929	71 409	101 861	67 315	6 898	69 269	112 943			

_				Р	rovince in 202	26				•	ln-	Net
2021	EC	FS	GP	KZN	LP	MP	NC	NW	WC	Out- migrants	In- migrants	Net migration
EC	0	14 573	142 281	110 130	15 374	18 183	8 901	20 876	175 615	505 932	196 864	-309 068
FS	9 003	0	79 817	9 629	7 100	11 521	9 768	21 732	13 555	162 126	145 587	-16 539
GP	52 656	45 766	0	115 060	90 826	91 259	12 430	111 293	116 557	635 846	1 381 024	745 177
KZN	29 414	14 795	164 329	0	10 554	42 177	9 745	13 598	38 890	323 502	344 247	20 745
LP	5 123	6 649	313 712	9 394	0	53 607	2 936	36 540	13 295	441 256	266 572	-174 684
MP	5 954	6 149	137 861	14 883	27 641	0	2 744	15 828	11 541	222 601	297 917	75 316
NC	4 997	10 296	19 533	6 564	3 037	5 198	0	14 705	20 627	84 957	91 686	6 729
NW	5 648	14 186	101 954	5 958	22 417	12 950	25 685	0	9 920	198 716	300 471	101 755
WC	55 147	8 832	67 846	14 214	6 285	7 946	13 841	9 210	0	183 322	492 427	309 105
Outside SA (net migration)	28 923	24 341	353 690	58 416	83 339	55 076	5 637	56 687	92 428			

 Table 9: Estimated provincial migration streams 2021–2026

5.3 Provincial distributions

Table 10 shows the estimated percentage of the total population residing in each of the provinces from 2002 to 2024. The provincial estimates indicate that Gauteng has the largest share of the population, followed by KwaZulu-Natal, Western Cape and Eastern Cape. Inter-provincial as well as international migration patterns significantly influence the provincial population numbers and structures in South Africa. By 2024, approximately 12% of South Africa's population live in Western Cape. Northern Cape has the smallest share of the population (2,2%). Free State has the second smallest share of the South African population, constituting 4,8% of the population. Figure 12 indicates that Limpopo and Eastern Cape (33,09% and 31,70% respectively) have the highest proportions of persons younger than 15 years. The highest proportions of elderly persons aged 60 years and above are found in Eastern Cape (11,9%) and Western Cape (11,0%), as shown in Figure 13. Figure 14 indicates the proportion of youth aged 25-34 within in each province. The highest proportion of youth are found in Gauteng (18,2%) and Mpumalanga (17,5%), whilst the lowest proportion of youth are found in Eastern Cape (14,7%) and Limpopo (15,4%). These proportions are reflective of provincial fertility patterns but more important migratory patterns between provinces.

	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	2007	2008	2009	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015	2016	2017	2018	2019	2020	2021	2022	2023	2024
EC	14,7	14,6	14,4	14,2	14,0	13,9	13,7	13,5	13,3	13,1	13,0	12,8	12,7	12,5	12,4	12,2	12,1	12,0	11,8	11,7	11,6	11,5	11,4
FS	5,9	5,8	5,8	5,7	5,6	5,6	5,5	5,5	5,4	5,3	5,3	5,3	5,2	5,2	5,1	5,1	5,0	5,0	5,0	4,9	4,9	4,9	4,8
GP	20,0	20,3	20,6	21,0	21,3	21,6	21,9	22,2	22,5	22,8	23,0	23,2	23,5	23,7	24,0	24,2	24,4	24,5	24,7	24,9	25,0	25,2	25,3
KZN	21,2	21,1	21,0	20,9	20,7	20,6	20,5	20,4	20,3	20,2	20,2	20,1	20,0	19,9	19,9	19,8	19,7	19,7	19,6	19,6	19,6	19,6	19,5
LP	11,2	11,1	11,0	10,9	10,9	10,8	10,8	10,7	10,7	10,6	10,6	10,5	10,5	10,4	10,4	10,4	10,3	10,3	10,3	10,2	10,2	10,2	10,2
МР	7,7	7,8	7,8	7,8	7,8	7,8	7,8	7,8	7,9	7,9	7,9	7,9	7,9	7,9	7,9	7,9	8,0	8,0	8,0	8,0	8,0	8,0	8,0
NC	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,3	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2	2,2
NW	6,3	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,4	6,5	6,5	6,5	6,5	6,5	6,5	6,5	6,5	6,6	6,6	6,6	6,6
wc	10,6	10,7	10,8	10,9	10,9	11,0	11,1	11,2	11,3	11,4	11,4	11,5	11,5	11,6	11,6	11,7	11,7	11,8	11,8	11,9	11,9	12,0	12,0
Total	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0	100,0

Table 10: Percentage distribution of the projected provincial share of the total population, 2002–2024

	Eastern Cape				Free State			Gauteng		KwaZulu-Natal			
Age	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	
0–4	396 145	388 695	784 840	143 319	141 183	284 502	639 808	619 756	1 259 564	652 473	632 752	1 285 225	
5–9	372 355	366 624	738 979	134 878	133 987	268 865	611 590	590 260	1 201 850	605 930	587 348	1 193 278	
10–14	377 632	373 327	750 959	142 781	144 907	287 688	619 899	605 018	1 224 917	623 830	610 293	1 234 123	
15–19	339 756	344 316	684 071	138 512	144 468	282 980	602 862	591 078	1 193 940	585 648	582 688	1 168 337	
20–24	250 986	268 421	519 407	115 574	122 963	238 537	584 377	558 039	1 142 416	483 150	492 038	975 188	
25–29	240 238	267 485	507 723	114 725	123 328	238 053	682 456	651 440	1 333 896	501 901	523 267	1 025 168	
30–34	257 595	291 486	549 081	122 898	132 730	255 629	800 798	772 723	1 573 520	536 904	557 355	1 094 260	
35–39	238 110	267 031	505 141	121 026	131 540	252 567	836 323	815 218	1 651 541	506 305	524 217	1 030 523	
40–44	189 949	210 062	400 011	95 941	106 811	202 752	686 156	668 734	1 354 890	379 104	413 647	792 751	
45–49	151 655	176 938	328 593	74 155	87 248	161 403	535 866	483 219	1 019 085	274 391	320 369	594 760	
50–54	125 788	163 136	288 924	62 502	76 809	139 311	432 941	377 443	810 384	217 172	268 563	485 735	
55–59	100 163	153 631	253 793	50 559	68 503	119 062	325 218	318 749	643 968	159 223	233 131	392 354	
60–64	87 625	148 553	236 178	42 190	59 215	101 405	261 890	271 048	532 938	131 146	210 664	341 811	
65–69	72 743	130 843	203 585	32 614	48 772	81 386	196 052	216 537	412 589	98 872	169 135	268 007	
70–74	54 978	99 864	154 842	22 893	38 529	61 422	133 393	157 321	290 714	72 000	129 812	201 812	
75–79	37 180	72 529	109 709	12 626	25 249	37 874	76 699	100 939	177 638	42 987	90 930	133 917	
80+	55 703	104 690	160 393	7 738	22 877	30 615	39 886	68 088	107 975	29 342	66 121	95 463	
Total	3 348 600	3 827 630	7 176 230	1 434 930	1 609 120	3 044 050	8 066 214	7 865 610	15 931 824	5 900 382	6 412 330	12 312 712	

Table 11 (a): Provincial mid-year population estimates by age and sex, 2024

raple + r(p). Fromincial init-year population estimates by age and sex, 2024 (concluded

		Limpopo			Mpumalanga		1	Northern Ca	ре		North West		١	Vestern Cape	
Age	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total	Male	Female	Total
0–4	374 693	363 678	738 371	245 701	239 561	485 261	69 321	67 609	136 930	205 949	199 562	405 511	296 477	284 451	580 928
5–9	349 269	338 944	688 213	228 185	223 591	451 776	64 853	63 859	128 712	190 388	183 663	374 050	284 688	273 096	557 784
10–14	351 186	341 089	692 275	236 297	233 597	469 894	64 997	64 503	129 500	192 383	188 177	380 559	301 376	291 429	592 805
15–19	319 284	309 918	629 202	224 234	223 474	447 707	61 360	60 407	121 767	184 605	181 490	366 096	300 952	291 392	592 344
20–24	242 108	238 248	480 357	194 908	194 794	389 702	53 526	51 780	105 306	162 700	153 982	316 682	282 073	266 964	549 038
25–29	235 722	237 362	473 084	215 023	212 583	427 606	54 437	52 110	106 547	174 120	156 723	330 843	313 987	295 275	609 262
30–34	253 599	256 599	510 199	234 465	225 328	459 793	58 293	55 454	113 748	193 491	172 356	365 847	345 116	331 075	676 191
35–39	238 075	236 074	474 149	236 324	219 316	455 640	57 626	53 978	111 604	192 073	169 602	361 675	356 218	344 802	701 020
40–44	187 636	191 512	379 148	191 003	175 494	366 497	47 817	43 046	90 863	157 554	135 856	293 410	301 982	293 499	595 481
45–49	138 481	167 868	306 349	136 990	138 188	275 177	37 111	34 569	71 680	122 449	109 941	232 390	239 336	234 180	473 516
50–54	108 459	143 696	252 155	104 778	116 302	221 080	30 511	30 768	61 279	97 862	93 621	191 484	207 101	206 485	413 586
55–59	81 857	123 670	205 527	78 778	98 595	177 373	23 839	27 743	51 582	78 008	79 131	157 139	166 777	188 060	354 836
60–64	63 713	111 554	175 267	62 921	81 579	144 501	19 005	24 225	43 230	64 843	67 095	131 938	133 147	160 295	293 442
65–69	47 358	92 528	139 886	46 038	62 378	108 417	15 025	20 660	35 684	46 755	53 886	100 642	98 705	126 353	225 058
70–74	34 587	75 841	110 428	32 631	48 317	80 948	10 934	16 698	27 632	28 115	40 502	68 617	70 050	90 806	160 856
75–79	19 867	49 653	69 519	17 662	29 359	47 022	6 535	11 786	18 321	15 685	27 275	42 960	44 435	64 142	108 577
80+	18 348	60 118	78 466	15 643	33 625	49 268	5 173	13 386	18 559	6 831	28 630	35 461	33 657	44 207	77 865
Total	3 064 242	3 338 352	6 402 594	2 501 579	2 556 082	5 057 662	680 363	692 580	1 372 943	2 113 812	2 041 491	4 155 303	3 776 077	3 786 511	7 562 588



Figure 12: Percentage of children under-15 years of age

Figure 13: Percentage of elderly aged 60+







Aburto, J.M., Kashyap, R., Schöley, J., Angus, C., Ermisch, J., Mills, M.C. and Dowd, J.B., (2021). *Estimating the burden of the COVID-19 pandemic on mortality, life expectancy and lifespan inequality in England and Wales: a population-level analysis.* Journal of Epidemiology Community Health, *75*(8), pp.735-740.

Avenir Health (2024) Spectrum Version 6.36, www.avenirhealth.org.

Australia Bureau of Statistics (2022) *Overseas Arrivals and Departures*, Australia, 12 May 2022 https://www.abs.gov.au/statistics/industry/tourism-and-transport/overseas-arrivals-and-departuresaustralia/latest-release

Biswas, M., Rahaman, S., Biswas, T. K, Haque, Z., Ibrahim, B. (2021) *Association of Sex, Age, and Comorbidities with Mortality in COVID-19 Patients: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis.* Intervirology 2021; 64:36-47

Booth, A., Reed, A.B., Ponzo, S., Yassaee, A., Aral, M., Plans, D., Labrique, A., Mohan, D. (2021) *Population risk factors for severe disease and mortality in COVID-19: A global systematic review and metaanalysis.* PLoS One. 2021 Mar 4;16(3)

Bradshaw, D., Laubscher R., Dorrington R.E., Groenewald, P. and Moultrie, T., (2023). *Report on Weekly deaths in South Africa: October 2023 (Week 43)*. Burden of Disease Research Institute. South African Medical Research Council. Cape Town 21 November 2023:

Dorrington R.E., Bradshaw D., Laubscher R., & Nannan, N. (2021). *Rapid mortality surveillance report 2019 and 2020*, Cape Town: South African Medical Research Council. ISBN: 978-1-928340-58-4

Dorrington R.E., Bradshaw D., Laubscher R., Groenewald, P. and Moultrie, T. (2021). *Methodological Note: Predicted numbers of deaths by Epi-week for South Africa in 2021 and 2021,* Cape Town: South African Medical Research Council.

Goldstein, J.R., and Lee, R.D. (2020) *Demographic perspectives on the mortality of COVID-19 and other epidemics* PNAS September 8, 2020 117 (36) 22035-22041; first published August 20, 2020; https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.2006392117, Edited by Douglas S. Massey, Princeton University, Princeton, NJ, and approved July 31, 2020 (received for review April 7, 2020)

Karlinsky, A., & Kobak, D. (2021). The World Mortality Dataset: Tracking excess mortality across countries during the COVID-19 pandemic. *medRxiv : the preprint server for health sciences*, 2021.01.27.21250604. https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.01.27.21250604

Kang, Seung Ji, and Sook In Jung (2020) *Age-Related Morbidity and Mortality among Patients with COVID- 19. Infection & chemotherapy* vol. 52,2 (2020): 154-164. doi:10.3947/ic.2020.52.2.154

Moultrie, T., Dorrington R.E., Laubscher R., Groenewald, P. and Bradshaw D. (2021). *Correlation of excess natural deaths with other measures if the COVID-19 pandemic in South Africa,* Cape Town: South African Medical Research Council.

National Department of Health (2020) COVID-19 Coronavirus vaccine strategy. https://www.gov.za/COVID-19/vaccine/strategy# 17 Feb 2021.

National Department of Health, (2021). National Department of Health 2019/2020 Annual report, South Africa, ISBN: 978-0-621-48874-6

National Department of Health, (2023). *The 2022 National Antenatal Sentinel HIV and Herpes Simplex Type-2 Prevalence Survey,* South Africa, National Department of Health.

National Institute for Communicable Disease (NICD) (2021) Quarterly COVID-19 in children Surveillance report: Epidemiology and Clinical characteristics of Laboratory- confirmed COVID-19 among individuals' age ≤19 years, South Africa, 1 March 2020- 1 May 2021. 24th May 2021. www.nicd.ac.za

Ndlovu, N.& Padarath, A. (2024) District Health Barometer 2022/2023. Durban: Health Systems Trust; February 2024

OECD (2023), International Migration Outlook 2023, OECD Publishing, Paris, https://doi.org/10.1787/b0f40584-en.

Pillay-Van Wyk, V. et al. (2020) COVID-19 deaths in South Africa: 99 days since South Africa's first death. South African Medical Journal, [S.I.], v. 110, n. 11, p. 1093-1099, Oct. 2020. ISSN 2078-5135.

Sanyaolu, A., Okorie, C., Marinkovic, A., Patidar, R., Younis, K., Desai, P., Hosein, Z., Padda, I., Mangat, J., & Altaf, M. (2020). *Comorbidity and its Impact on Patients with COVID-19.* SN comprehensive clinical medicine, 1–8. Advance online publication.

Shisana O., Rehle T., Simbayi I., C, Zuma K., Jooste S., Jungi N., Labadarios D., Onoya D., et al. (2014). *South African National HIV Prevalence Incidence and Behaviour Survey 2012,* Cape Town, HSRC Press,

Simbayi LC, Zuma K, Zungu N, Moyo S, Marinda E, Jooste S, Mabaso M, Ramlagan S, North A, van Zyl J, Mohlabane N, Dietrich C, Naidoo I and the SABSSM V Team (2019). *South African National HIV Prevalence, Incidence, Behaviour and Communication Survey, 2017.* Cape Town: HSRC Press

Statistics South Africa (2015), "Census 2011: Fertility in South Africa", Statistics South Africa, Pretoria

Statistics South Africa (2023), "Recorded live birth 2022", Statistical Release P0305, Statistics South Africa, Pretoria.

Statistics South Africa (2024(a)), "International Tourism March 2024", Statistical Release P0350, Statistics South Africa, Pretoria.

Statistics South Africa (2024(b)), "International Tourism May 2024", Statistical Release P0350, Statistics South Africa, Pretoria.

Statistics South Africa (2024(c)), "Tourism and migration December 2023", Statistical Release P0351, Statistics South Africa, Pretoria.

Stokes EK, Zambrano LD, Anderson KN, et al. *Coronavirus Disease 2019 Case Surveillance — United States, January 22–May 30, 2020.* MMWR Morbidity and Mortal Weekly Rep 2020; 69: 759–765.

United Nations (1992). *Preparing Migration Data for Sub-national Population Projections*. Department of International, Economic and Social Affairs, United Nations, New York.

UNFPA (2021) Technical Brief: How will the COVID-19 pandemic affect births? 21 December 2021.

Willekens F., & Rogers A., (1978). *Spatial Population Analysis: Methods and Computer Programs.* International Institute for Applied System Analysis, Research Report, RR 78-18. Luxenberg, Austria.

Woldesenbet, S.A., Kufa, T., Lombard, C., Manda, S., Ayalew, K., Cheyip, M., and Puren, A. (2021). *The 2019 National Antenatal Sentinel HIV Survey,* South Africa, National Department of Health 2021.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Mid-year population estimates by province, 2024

	Population estimates	% of total population
Eastern Cape	7 176 230	11,4
Free State	3 044 050	4,8
Gauteng	15 931 824	25,3
KwaZulu-Natal	12 312 712	19,5
Limpopo	6 402 594	10,2
Mpumalanga	5 057 662	8,0
Northern Cape	1 372 943	2,2
North West	4 155 303	6,6
Western Cape	7 562 588	12,0
Total	63 015 904	100,0

*Due to rounding totals may not add up to 100%

Appendix 2: Demographic indicators, 2002–2024

		Li	ife expectance	cy				Rate of
	Crude				Infant mortality	Under-5 mortality	death	increase
Year	birth rate	Male	Female	Total	rate	rate	rate	(%)
2002	21,3	52,9	56,3	54,7	57,0	79,7	13,4	0,8
2003	20,8	52,4	56,0	54,2	57,1	82,3	13,7	0,7
2004	22,2	52,0	55,6	53,9	57,2	81,3	14,0	0,8
2005	23,3	51,8	55,3	53,6	56,2	80,9	14,3	0,9
2006	23,7	51,8	55,3	53,6	55,1	78,2	14,5	0,9
2007	23,9	52,0	56,6	54,4	49,4	71,0	14,1	1,0
2008	24,1	52,9	57,6	55,3	48,9	63,8	13,6	1,1
2009	23,8	54,2	59,2	56,8	44,7	55,9	12,8	1,1
2010	23,2	55,3	61,2	58,4	41,9	50,6	11,9	1,1
2011	23,1	57,3	62,6	60,0	37,1	44,0	11,0	1,2
2012	22,8	58,6	64,2	61,4	34,6	40,4	10,4	1,2
2013	22,3	59,5	65,3	62,5	32,9	38,5	9,9	1,3
2014	21,9	60,5	66,1	63,3	30,9	37,4	9,5	1,2
2015	21,3	61,0	66,6	63,8	29,2	36,7	9,3	1,2
2016	20,1	61,2	66,8	64,0	28,2	36,2	9,3	1,1
2017	19,7	61,6	66,9	64,3	27,3	35,7	9,2	1,1
2018	20,0	62,3	67,3	64,9	25,6	33,4	9,0	1,1
2019	20,2	62,7	67,8	65,3	25,4	32,5	8,9	1,1
2020	20,4	62,8	68,3	65,6	24,5	31,4	8,9	1,2
2021	20,3	60,3	65,0	62,7	24,5	31,3	11,2	0,9
2022	20,1	61,3	66,5	63,9	24,9	31,2	10,4	1,0
2023	19,8	63,4	69,0	66,3	24,0	30,5	8,8	1,1
2024	19,6	63,6	69,2	66,5	22,9	28,6	8,7	1,1

		Preva		Incidence rate %	ніх	
	Women	Adults	Youth	Total		population
	15–49	15–49	15–24	population	15–49	(in millions)
2002	16,61	14,39	6,50	8,89	1,90	4,14
2003	17,12	14,78	6,43	9,28	1,84	4,36
2004	17,54	15,09	6,38	9,62	1,79	4,57
2005	17,89	15,33	6,33	9,89	1,73	4,75
2006	18,20	15,54	6,26	10,13	1,66	4,93
2007	18,51	15,71	6,20	10,32	1,61	5,09
2008	18,81	15,90	6,16	10,51	1,56	5,25
2009	19,19	16,14	6,15	10,73	1,52	5,43
2010	19,61	16,45	6,19	10,98	1,51	5,65
2011	20,16	16,85	6,22	11,29	1,54	5,90
2012	20,72	17,25	6,23	11,60	1,48	6,16
2013	21,04	17,45	6,01	11,79	1,19	6,36
2014	21,29	17,61	5,77	11,97	1,10	6,56
2015	21,37	17,63	5,44	12,07	0,93	6,72
2016	21,39	17,61	5,17	12,15	0,89	6,87
2017	21,40	17,59	4,96	12,24	0,89	7,02
2018	21,39	17,55	4,80	12,31	0,85	7,17
2019	21,30	17,46	4,66	12,36	0,81	7,31
2020	21,18	17,33	4,56	12,41	0,80	7,45
2021	21,05	17,20	4,52	12,48	0,82	7,57
2022	20,87	17,02	4,49	12,54	0,80	7,69
2023	20,68	16,85	4,52	12,61	0,85	7,84
2024	20,50	16,68	4,52	12,70	0,88	8,00

Appendix 3: HIV prevalence estimates and number of people living with HIV, 2002–2024

	Children 0–14	Youth 15-24	Adults 25–59	Elderly 60+	Total
2002–2003	-1,53	3,46	1,53	1,40	0,92
2003–2004	-1,11	3,32	1,49	1,61	1,06
2004–2005	-0,59	2,73	1,58	1,72	1,16
2005–2006	-0,19	1,83	1,82	1,77	1,20
2006–2007	0,15	1,40	1,86	2,14	1,27
2007–2008	0,47	0,97	2,01	2,35	1,35
2008–2009	0,71	0,56	2,19	2,49	1,43
2009–2010	0,80	0,15	2,39	2,67	1,47
2010–2011	1,09	-0,93	2,88	2,83	1,57
2011–2012	1,38	-1,31	2,90	2,93	1,62
2012-2013	1,53	-1,63	2,92	2,92	1,63
2013-2014	1,45	-1,59	2,88	3,04	1,64
2014–2015	1,28	-1,31	2,72	3,02	1,59
2015–2016	1,14	-1,40	2,56	2,98	1,48
2016–2017	1,10	-1,36	2,45	2,93	1,44
2017–2018	1,37	-1,36	2,35	2,99	1,50
2018–2019	1,11	-0,45	2,21	2,97	1,53
2019–2020	0,90	0,19	1,97	2,88	1,46
2020–2021	0,68	0,32	1,43	1,65	1,06
2021-2022	0,47	1,29	1,35	2,21	1,17
2022-2023	0,30	2,12	1,36	2,92	1,33
2023–2024	0,28	2,18	1,36	2,84	1,33

Appendix 5: Lockdown levels and migration

Level 5 26-March- 30 April 2020	Level 4 01-31 May 2020	Level 3 01 June-17 August 2020	Level 2 18 August- 20 September 2020	Level 1 21 September- 28 December 2020	Adjusted Level 3 29 December 2020-28 Feb 2021	Adjusted Level 1 01 March - 30 May 2021	
		INTERNATION	AL AND NATIONAL BORD	ER MOVEMENT			
Level 5	Level 4	Level 3	Level 2	Level 1	Adjusted Level 3	Level 1	
All borders of the country remain closed except for transportation of good and repatriation of citizen to SA and non-citizens to their countries of citizenship	All border of the country remain closed except for transportation of good and repatriation of citizen to SA and non-citizens to their countries of citizenship	All border of the country remain closed except for transportation of good and repatriation of citizen to SA and non-citizens to their countries of citizenship	All border of the country remain closed except for transportation of good and repatriation of citizen to SA and non-citizens to their countries of citizenship	Borders reopened for international travel as of 01 October 2020 subject to restrictions.	Borders reopened for international travel as of 01 October 2020 subject to restrictions. 20 land borders were closed on 11 January 2021 and re- opened on 15 February	Borders reopened for international travel as of 01 October 2020 subject to restrictions.	
Interprovincial travel is not permitted except to return to work with proof of employment; for movement of learners, with permit; in exceptional circumstances such as funerals (with approval) or essential services	Interprovincial travel is not permitted except to return to work with proof of employment; for movement of learners, with permit; in exceptional circumstances such as funerals (with approval) or essential services	Interprovincial travel is not permitted except to return to work with proof of employment; for movement of learners, with permit; in exceptional circumstances such as funerals (with approval) or essential services	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose.	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	2021 while 30 remain closed. All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	
AVIATION							
Level 5	Level 4	Level 3	Level 2	Level 1	Adjusted Level 3	Level 1	
Air transport permitted only for the shipment of cargo	Ocean and air transport permitted only for the shipment of cargo	Domestic air travel for business only International flights not permitted	Domestic air travel for business only International flights not permitted	Domestic air travel allowed. International travel allowed as of 01 October 2020.	Domestic air travel allowed. International travel allowed as of 01 October 2020.	Domestic air travel allowed. International travel allowed as of 01 October 2020.	
Adjusted Level 2 31 May-15 June 2021	Adjusted Level 3 16-27 June 2021	Adjusted Level 4 28 June-25 July 2021	Adjusted Level 3 26 July - 12 September 2021	Adjusted Level 2 13 -30 September 2021	Adjusted Level 1 01 October 2021-4 April 2022	National state of disaster lifted 05 April 2022 to date	
	A.D 11 - 14				A.P 11 - 14		
Adjusted Level 2 20 land borders of the country are fully operational and 33 remain closed. Travelling to and from the country is allowed subject to restrictions.	Adjusted Level 3 20 land borders of the country are fully operational and 33 remain closed. Travelling to and from the country is allowed subject to restrictions.	Adjusted Level 4 20 land borders of the country are fully operational and 33 remain closed. Travelling to and from the country is allowed subject to restrictions.	Adjusted Level 3 20 land borders of the country are fully operational and 33 remain closed. Travelling to and from the country is allowed subject to restrictions.	Adjusted Level 2 20 land borders of the country are fully operational and 33 remain closed. Travelling to and from the country is allowed subject to restrictions.	Adjusted Level 1 21 land borders of the country are fully operational and 32 remain closed except for the Telle Bridge port of entry.	Lockdown ended Partial re-opening of borders still in place. 21 land borders of the country are fully operational and 32 remain closed.	
All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	Interprovincial travel is restricted when travelling to and from Gauteng only – except for work, business or commercial travel. Leisure travel is prohibited	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose.	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	All travel between provinces is allowed for any purpose	
			AVIATION				
Adjusted Level 2	Adjusted Level 3	Adjusted Level 4	Adjusted Level 3	Adjusted Level 2	Adjusted Level 1	Lockdown ended	
Domestic air travel allowed	Domestic air travel allowed	Domestic air travel allowed	Domestic air travel allowed	Domestic air travel allowed	Domestic air travel allowed	Domestic air travel allowed	
International air travel is	International air travel is	with restrictions to	International air travel is	International air travel is	International air travel is	International air travel is	

restricted to 5 airports only.

Source: www.gov.za

restricted to 5 airports only.

restricted to 5 airports only.

Gauteng.

International air travel is restricted to 5 airports only.

General Information

Stats SA publishes approximately 300 different statistical releases each year. It is not economically viable to produce them in more than one of South Africa's eleven official languages. Since the releases are used extensively, not only locally but also by international economic and social-scientific communities, Stats SA releases are published in English only.

Stats SA has copyright on this publication. Users may apply the information as they wish, provided that they acknowledge Stats SA as the source of the basic data wherever they process, apply, utilise, publish or distribute the data; and also that they specify that the relevant application and analysis (where applicable) result from their own processing of the data.

Advance release calendar

An advance release calendar is disseminated on www.statssa.gov.za

Stats SA products

A complete set of Stats SA publications is available at the Stats SA Library and the following libraries: National Library of South Africa, Pretoria Division Natal Society Library, Pietermaritzburg Library of Parliament, Cape Town Bloemfontein Public Library Johannesburg Public Library Eastern Cape Library Services, Qonce Central Regional Library, Polokwane Central Reference Library, Mbombela Central Reference Collection, Kimberley Central Reference Library, Mmabatho

Stats SA also provides a subscription service.

Electronic services

A large range of data are available via on-line services, diskette and computer printouts. For more details about our electronic data services, contact 012 310 8600.

You can visit us on the internet at: www.statssa.gov.za

Enquiries

User information services	Telephone number: 012 310 8600			
	Email address: info@statssa.gov.za			
Technical enquiries:	diegoi@statssa.gov.za chantalmu@statssa.gov.za lesegol@statssa.gov.za andisar@statssa.gov.za			
Postal address	Private Bag X44, Pretoria, 0001			
	Produced by Stats SA			